
1

City of Kelowna
Public Hearing

AGENDA

Tuesday, March 12, 2013

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

1.(a)The purpose of this Hearing is to consider certain bylaws which, if adopted, shall

amend Kelowna 2030 - Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 and Zoning Bylaw

No. 8000.

(b)All persons who believe that their interest in property is affected by the proposed

bylaws shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard or to present written

submissions respecting matters contained in the bylaws that are the subject of this

hearing. This Hearing is open to the public and all representations to Council form part

of the public record. A live audio feed may be broadcast and recorded by Castanet.

(c)All information, correspondence, petitions or reports that have been received

concerning the subject bylaws have been made available to the public.The

correspondence and petitions received after February 26, 2013 (date of notification)

are available for inspection during the course of this hearing and are located on the

information table in the foyer of the Council Chamber.

(d)Council debate on the proposed bylaws is scheduled to take place during the

Regular Council meeting after the conclusion of this Hearing. It should be noted,

however, that for some items a final decision may not be able to be reached tonight.



2

(e)It must be emphasized that Council will not receive any representation from the

applicant or members of the public after conclusion of this Public Hearing.

2. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the Hearing was publicized.

3. The Mayor will provide comment on procedures for each bylaw submission.

4. Individual Bylaw Submissions

4.1 Bylaw No. 10804 - Text Amendment Application No. TA12-0012 - Text
Amendment to Zoning Bylaw for Care Centre and Housing Agreement Updates

5 - 18

The purpose of this application is to update the Zoning Bylaw by

removing all references to housing agreements, and updating the

definitions, parking, loading requirement, and development regulations

for “care centres”.

4.2 Bylaw Nos. 10806 and 10807 - Official Community Plan Amendment
Application No. OCP12-0009 & Rezoning Application No. Z12-0055 - 2980
Gallagher Road

19 - 33

The applicant is proposing to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP Future

Land Use Designations for a portion of the Kirschner Mountain development

lands, and to rezone a small portion of one of the subject properties.

4.3 WITHDRAWN BY APPLICANT - Bylaw Nos. 10808 and 10809 - Rezoning
Application No. Z12-0068 and Text Amendment Application No. TA13-0002 -
1121, 1131, 1141 & 1151 Brookside Avenue

34 - 56

To consider rezoning the subject properties from the RU6 – Two Dwelling

Housing Zone to the RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing Zone to

accommodate the proposed 68 unit purpose built rental townhouse

development. To consider a Text Amendment to the RM3 zone to

increase the base density to 0.75 and to provide an additional 0.1 density

bonus for projects located within Urban Centres.

4.4 Bylaw No. 10810 - Official Community Plan Text Amendment Application No.
OCP12-0014 - 3762-3766 and 3756 Lakeshore Road

57 - 117

To consider an OCP amendment to OCP Objective 5.5, Policy .1,

Building Height to exclude the development proposed at 3762-3766



3

Lakeshore Road from the OCP’s Building Height Policy in order to permit

a permit one 10 storey and one 12 storey apartment hotel where the

height maximum is 6 storeys.

5. Termination

6. Procedure on each Bylaw Submission

(a) Brief description of the application by City Staff (Land Use Management);

(b) The Chair will request that the City Clerk indicate all information, correspondence,

petitions or reports received for the record.

(c) The applicant is requested to make representation to Council regarding the project

and is encouraged to limit their presentation to 15 minutes.

(d) The Chair will call for representation from the public in attendance as follows:

 (i) The microphone at the public podium has been provided for any person(s) wishing

to make representation at the Hearing.

 (ii) The Chair will recognize ONLY speakers at the podium.

 (iii) Speakers are encouraged to limit their remarks to 5 minutes, however, if they have

additional information they may address Council again after all other members of the

public have been heard a first time.

(e) Once the public has had an opportunity to comment, the applicant is given an

opportunity to respond to any questions raised. The applicant is requested to keep the

response to a total of 10 minutes maximum.

(f) Questions by staff by members of Council must be asked before the Public Hearing

is closed and not during debate of the bylaw at the Regular Meeting, unless for

clarification.

(g) Final calls for respresentation (ask three times). Unless Council directs that the

Public Hearing on the bylaw in question be held open, the Chair shall state to the

gallery that the Public Hearing on the Bylaw is closed.

Note: Any applicant or member of the public may use visual aids (e.g. photographs,



4

sketches, slideshows, etc.) to assist in their presentation or questions. The computer

and ELMO document camera at the public podium are available. Please ask staff for

assistance prior to your item if required.



 

 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: January 31, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-04 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (BD) 

Application: TA12-0012 Applicant:  City of Kelowna (B. Decloux) 

Subject: 
Text Amendment to Zoning Bylaw for Care Centre and Housing Agreement 
updates.  

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA12-0012 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 as outlined in Schedule ‘A’ attached to the Report of the Land Use Management Department 
dated January 31, 2013, be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration.  

2.0 Purpose  

The purpose of this application is to update the Zoning Bylaw by removing all references to 
housing agreements, and updating the definitions, parking, loading requirement, and 
development regulations for “care centres”.    

3.0 Land Use Management  

Land Use Management is proposing amendments to the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 
with the following objectives: 

 To remove all references to housing agreements as per SR237681;  

 To clarify the “care centre” definitions, remove all references to “care centre, 
intermediate” and update loading and parking requirements to reflect best practices as 
established in already built facilities. 1 

 
Demand for child care in Kelowna exceeds the supply of new daycare facilities opening in the 
area.  Concerns of misuse of the “care centre, minor” have been raised by Bylaw Services and 
Interior Health where daycare businesses are being operated by a person other than the principal 
owner/resident of the home.  The “Community Care and Assisted Living Act” stipulates that a 
“care centre, minor” is to be provided within a home setting, operated by the resident and 
integrated into the residence.  Staff are proposing to amend the definition to include a 

                                                
1 Exact wording proposed is noted on Schedule “A” as attached. 
 

5



TA12-0012 – Page 2 

 
 

 

requirement for the operator of the “care centre, minor” to reside at the dwelling, and reduce 
the parking and loading requirements. Additionally, a change in the terminology to “child care 
centre” is proposed to assist in identifying this use.  
 
The current parking regulations are excessive considering that the number of children is limited 
and few to no employees are anticipated to park at the site. The current parking regulations are 
often the factor that prohibits the retrofit of a “care centre, minor” within a single family 
dwelling.  It is anticipated that this amendment will facilitate the creation of additional care 
spaces within the City.   
 
Amendments are proposed to the required number of loading spaces for the “care centre, major” 
use. It is proposed that the number of spaces be aligned with the proportion of children at a 
facility which is in keeping with other institutional uses.  For instance, we require a minimum of 
5 loading spaces for secondary schools, or 1 per 2800m2 GFA for institutional uses. The current 
requirement for a minimum of 3 loading spaces for a ‘care centre, major’ has been overly 
cumbersome and typically requires a variance.  Therefore, this amendment is to recognize the 
functional reality of this use to current standards.  
 
As per Council’s direction with the endorsement of the ‘Housing Strategy’, removing the 
references to housing agreements in the Zoning Bylaw 8000 is a necessary step to eliminate 
confusion to the development community.  
 
In summary, child care is still an undersupplied community service in our City. Staff are proposing 
changes to the definition, loading and parking requirements to be more reflective of facilities 
already existing and to address development regulations that typically require variances.   

4.0 Proposal 

Proposed amendments are discussed in detail below, however the exact wording changes are 
noted in Schedule ‘A’. 

1. Change to the “Care Centre” term:  

By changing the term “care centre” to “child care centre”, this aligns the definition and 
intention as per the “Community Care and Assisted Living Act” and allows Staff to 
introduce the use of ”adult care centre” in a subsequent text amendment. 
 
2. Revise the “Care Centre, Minor” definition: 

The purpose of the ‘care centre, minor’ use is to allow residents the opportunity to have 
a daycare business for up to 8 children in their home.  Part of the business is that the 
children have a home environment where they have care when away from their parents or 
guardians. It has come to Staff’s attention that some homeowners may be renting a 
portion of a home, (generally the basement) for someone else to provide child care.  As 
this is not the intent, it is proposed to clarify the definition to ensure that the care is 
provided by the principal resident.   
 
3. Removal of outdated “Care Centre, Intermediate” use: 

In September 2011, the care centre definitions in the Zoning Bylaw were amended to align 
with the provincial regulations. Some references to the “care centre, intermediate” were 
not revised.  This text amendment seeks to rectify the oversight.    
 

6



TA12-0012 – Page 3 

 
 

 

4. Remove all references to “housing agreements”: 

In response to a service request by Council, all references to “housing agreements” are 
being removed from section 2 - interpretation. Further, references in the appropriate 
zone where “housing agreements” are noted will be eliminated.  

5. Reduction in the parking requirements for “Care Centre, Minor” use: 

The current parking requirements for “Care Centre, Minor” are disproportionately high 
compared to other uses, which often triggers a variance application.  Currently, a 
minimum of 4 spaces are required in addition to the 2 spaces for the principal dwelling.  
Given that it is proposed to revise the use definition, no additional parking is required for 
the child care provider and the only additional parking needed on the site will be to 
facilitate the pick up/drop off of children. It is being proposed that the number of parking 
spaces be reduced from 6 spaces to 4 spaces.   
Typically a “Care Centre, minor” is located within a single family neighbourhood and 
serves children within the immediate neighbourhood. Therefore, the requirement for a 
total minimum of 6 spaces is onerous and restrictive for retrofitting many residential 
sites.   
 
6. Revising Loading changes: 

Loading spaces are defined as “on-site parking space reserved for temporary parking for 
the purpose of loading or unloading goods and materials”.  Given that the “care centre, 
minor” use is limited to a maximum 8 children within a single family context, provisions 
for loading of materials is not required.  Further, an amendment to the number of car 
loading spaces for the “care centre, major” use is proposed to be reduced and aligned 
with the number of children at the facility.     

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Policy .2 Compact Urban Form. Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of 
existing infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will 
be done by increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs per ha located 
within a 400 metre walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of 
transit service) through development, conversion, and re-development within Urban 
Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular and existing areas as per the provisions of the 
Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1.2 
 
Child Care Collaboration:3 
Collaborate with community, government and agencies for the provision of childcare in 
the City.   
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
2
 Official community plan Objective 5.2 Community Sustainability 

3 Council Policy – Social policies 360 

 

7



TA12-0012 – Page 4 

 
 

 

6.0      Technical Comments  

No technical comments or concerns were received from other departments or agencies with the 
exception of Interior Health which is attached.   

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Birte Decloux, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:        Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use Management 
 

Approved for Inclusion:   Doug Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, Community Sustainability 

 

Attachments:   

Schedule ‘A’ 
Letter of support 
Technical comments  

8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: January 23, 2013 

RIM No. 1250 – 20/1250 - 30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (JM) 

Application: OCP12-0009 / Z12-0055 Owners: 
Allan, Donald, Heidi-Sabine, 
Amy, Angelica & Gordon 
Kirschner 

Address: 2980 Gallagher Road Applicant: 
Kirschner Mountain Estates 
Ltd. (Allan Kirschner) 

Subject: Official Community Plan Amendment & Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: 

AGR – Resource Protection Area 
PARK – Major Park & Open Space (Public) 
S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential  
S2RESH – Single / Two Unit Residential (Hillside) 
MRL – Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density) 

Proposed OCP Designation: 

 
AGR – Resource Protection Area 
PARK – Major Park & Open Space (Public) 
S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential  
S2RESH – Single / Two Unit Residential (Hillside) 
MRL – Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density)     

Existing Zone: 

 
P3 – Parks and Open Space 
A1 – Agriculture 1 
RU1h – Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area) 

Proposed Zone: RU1h – Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area) 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP 12-0009 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of portions Lot 1, Sections 12 and 13, Township 26, and Sections 7 and 18, Township 
27, ODYD, Plan KAP71697, Except Plans KAP84278, KAP86315, KAP86363, and KAP88598, located 
on 2980 Gallagher Road, Kelowna, BC from the Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density) 
designation to the Major Park and Open Space (public) designation, from the Multiple Unit 
Residential (Low Density) designation to the Single / Two Unit Residential – Hillside designation, 
from the Single / Two Unit Residential designation to the Major Park and Open Space (public) 
designation, from the Single / Two Unit Residential designation to the Single / Two Unit 

26



Z12-0055 – Page 2 

 
 

Residential - Hillside designation, from the Single / Two Unit Residential designation to the 
Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density) designation, from the Single / Two Unit Residential - 
Hillside designation to the Major Park and Open Space (public) designation, from the Single / Two 
Unit Residential - Hillside designation to the Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density) designation, 
Major Park and Open Space (public) designation to the Single / Two Unit Residential - Hillside 
designation, from the Major Park and Open Space (public) designation to the Multiple Unit 
Residential (Low Density) designation, from the Major Park and Open Space (public) designation 
to the Single / Two Unit Residential designation, as shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of 
Land Use Management Department dated January 23, 2013, be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT Council considers the neighbour consultation public process to be appropriate 
consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the 
Report of the Land Use Management Department dated January 23, 2013;  
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0055 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of part of Lot 1, Sections 12 and 13, Township 26, and 
Sections 7 and 18, Township 27, ODYD, Plan KAP71697, Except Plans KAP84278, KAP86315, 
KAP86363, and KAP88598, located on 2980 Gallagher Road, Kelowna, BC, from the P3 – Parks and 
Open Space and A1 – Agriculture 1 zones to the RU1h – Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area) zone as 
shown on Map “B” attached to the Report of the Land Use Management Department dated 
January 23, 2013, be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Bylaw and the Zone Amending Bylaw 
be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration;  
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of Development Permits for the subject property;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
issuance of a Preliminary Layout Review Letter by the Approving Officer. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider the merits of a proposal to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land 
Use designations for a portion of the Kirschner Mountain development lands, and to rezone a 
small portion of one of the subject properties. 

3.0 Land Use Management   

Land Use Management is generally supportive of the proposed rezoning and broader amendment 
to the Official Community Plan (OCP), as there is a resulting net benefit to the overall park and 
open space network for the Kirschner Mountain development. Nevertheless, staff have 
reservations about the initial course of action taken by the applicant, undertaking substantial 
development works without any permits on lands zoned for public park use.  

However, through negotiations with City staff, the applicant will see the legalization of the 
partially developed residential lots, and the City will benefit from an improved parks and open 
space network, enhanced wildlife connections, and protection of steep slopes. It should be noted 
that the changes to the OCP future land use designations has been completed at a gross scale. As 
development proceeds in the area in the future, more detailed site investigations will likely 
trigger the need for some changes to these conceptual designations. 

27



Z12-0055 – Page 3 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In 2002, the applicant completed an Area Structure Plan (ASP) for the Kirschner Mountain area, 
which resulted in a long-term plan for a predominantly single family residential community, 
interspersed with natural open space and recreational trails. While significant residential 
development has taken place in accordance with the ASP, there remains a large proportion of the 
plan area that is undeveloped. 

In 2010/2011, the applicant proceeded to develop five single family parcels on lands located 
within the Kirschner Mountain development that are zoned P3 – Parks and Open Space, and A1 – 
Agriculture 1, and designated PARK – Major Parks and Open Space (public) in the Official 
Community Plan. This development of designated parkland was undertaken without any permits 
or authorizations. While not subdivided or built upon, the lots are graded and serviced (see 
attached photos).  

Upon the discovery by the City of this unauthorized work, the applicant began working with City 
staff to determine a reasonable way to formalize the five residential lots, while demonstrating a 
benefit to the future park network for the Kirschner Mountain development.  

The applicant has visited each occupied residential property within approximately 150m of the 
subject property to discuss the proposal. Staff have received signatures from all properties within 
that area which are not owned by the applicant (unsold lots), with the exception of four (4) 
parcels of a possible 29. The applicant has advised that, despite several attempts, the owners of 
these four parcels were not available. No objections have been received to date.  

4.2 Project Description 

There are two significant aspects to this application: the rezoning to formalize the existing 
residential lots, and the amendment of the OCP future land use designations to demonstrate a 
benefit to the future park network. Each item will be discussed separately below. 

Rezoning 

The applicant proposes to rezone a 0.43ha portion of the northernmost subject property, on the 
east side of Loseth Road, near its intersection with Monte Vista Avenue, from the P3 – Parks and 
Open Space, and A1 – Agriculture 1 zones, to the RU1h – Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area). The 
purpose of the zoning is to formalize the residential lots that have already been serviced and 
graded. 

Official Community Plan Amendment 

As a result of City action to halt the development of lands zoned and designated for park use, the 
applicant worked with City staff to arrive at resolution that would demonstrate a net benefit to 
the future park network of the Kirschner Mountain community. Through this cooperative process, 
a broader amendment to the OCP future land use designations for the area is proposed, including 
the following elements: 

 Improved linear park/wildlife corridor connections and connections to adjoining regional park 
lands; 

 Consolidation of multi-unit residential sites into one area; and 
 Improve protection of steep slopes and natural features. 

These OCP changes have been completed using up-to-date topographic and environmental 
information; however, it should be clearly noted that site-specific, detailed investigations 

28



Z12-0055 – Page 4 

 
 

required as part of future hillside development work will likely trigger the need to adjust OCP 
boundaries further. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is the large undeveloped remainder parcel (85ha) left over from the initial 
phases of development at Kirschner Mountain. The portion of this large lot under consideration is 
situated in the southwest corner, close to the current end of Loseth Road.  

The site is subject to typical hillside conditions, and includes a variety of topography, from 
natural benches to steep slopes in excess of 45% grade. Given this, the site is subject to Natural 
Environment, Wildland Fire Hazard and Hazardous Conditions Development Permits. 

A small, approximately 0.3ha portion of the far southeastern corner of the subject property is 
located within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR); however, since the proposed changes will 
have no impact on the ALR lands, no additional approvals are required. 

Existing land uses in the area include a mix of single family residential development in the 
Kirschner Mountain community, undeveloped lands, and some agricultural lands. Specifically, 
adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
RU1h – Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area) 
P3 – Parks and Open Space 

Single family residential development 
Open space 

East 
P3 – Parks and Open Space 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

Open space 
Undeveloped lands 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 
Undeveloped lands/low intensity 
agriculture 

West RU1h - Large Lot Housing (Hillside Area) Single family residential development 

 
The portion of the subject property under consideration contains a variety of OCP designations, 
including: Single / Two Unit Residential, Single / Two Unit Residential (hillside), Multiple Unit 
Residential (low density), and Major Park and Open Space (public). 

  

29



Z12-0055 – Page 5 

 
 

Subject Property Map: Portion of 2980 Gallagher Road 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU1h ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 550 m2 806 - 944 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m 20.0 – 27.1 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 37.8 – 43.0 m 

Development Regulations 
Height 9.5 m or 2 ½ storeys TBD 

Front Yard 6.0 m TBD 

Side Yard (south) 
2.0 m for 1 ½ storeys 

2.3 m for 2 storeys or greater 
TBD 

Side Yard (north) 
2.0 m for 1 ½ storeys 

2.3 m for 2 storeys or greater 
TBD 

Rear Yard 7.5 m TBD 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 2 stalls TBD 

 

  

30



Z12-0055 – Page 6 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Permanent Growth Boundary.1 Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified on Map 4.1 
and Map 5.2. Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth Boundary for more 
intensive uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use designations in place 
as of initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific amendment of this 
policy. Resource Protection Area designated properties not in the ALR and outside the Permanent 
Growth Boundary will not be supported for subdivision below parcel sizes of 4.0 ha (10 acres). 
The Permanent Growth Boundary may be reviewed as part of the next major OCP update. 

Compact Urban Form.2 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Environmentally Sensitive Area Linkages.3 Ensure that development activity does not 
compromise the ecological function of environmentally sensitive areas and maintains the 
integrity of plant and wildlife corridors. 

Steep Slopes.4 Prohibit development on steep slopes (+30% or greater for a minimum distance of 
10 metres) except where provided for in ASPs adopted or subdivisions approved prior to adoption 
of OCP Bylaw 10500. 

Hydro-Geologically Sensitive Areas.5 Require an assessment of potential ground and surface 
water seepage as part of any subdivision on hillside lands in excess of 20% slope. Require reduced 
or no irrigation water use in areas where limited or no infiltration capacity exists based on hydro-
geological assessments of sensitive areas. 

5.2 Kirschner Mountain Area Structure Plan (ASP) 

Parks and Open Space6 

Active and passive open space, with significant inter-connected pedestrian access, will help 
create an integrated and cohesive community; 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Subdivision Branch 

Driveway slopes, retaining walls, lot drainage and storm water management will all be addressed 
at subdivision stage. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

No off-site requirements. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.15.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
4 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.15.12 (Development Process Chapter). 
5 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.36.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
6 Stantec Consulting (March, 2001). Kirschner Mountain Area Structure Plan, Policy 4.3(c).  

31



Z12-0055 – Page 7 

 
 

6.3 Fire Department 

No comments. 

6.4 Public Health Inspector 

Wastewater Disposal:  

We have no comments on wastewater disposal based on the referenced property having 
connection to the City of Kelowna municipal sewer system.  

Drinking Water: 

Please note that the community water system (BMID) indicated for connection to this proposed 
development does not meet the Provincial Drinking Water Objectives and has not provided an 
approved long-term plan to meet these objectives. We recommend that approvals should be 
contingent upon the completion of necessary treatment upgrades or where there is evidence that 
an approved plan is under implementation to meet the required treatment objectives. The 
transfer of property to prospective purchasers should also be contingent upon the sharing of 
information on the current status of this system [see response from BMID below also note that 
this issue will be addressed as part of the Subdivision Approval process]. 

6.5 Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) 

BMID has no issues related to the proposed rezoning and OCP amendments.  We understand that 
this may be going to council in the near future. 

At time of subdivision, normal BMID fees and capital charges will apply as per BMID bylaws as will 
subdivision servicing requirements as per City Subdivision Servicing bylaw.  Service capacity 
exists in the distribution system and pump station to service the 5 lots. 

The applicant is fully aware of the water requirements and the application / approval process 
through BMID. 

Currently BMID does not meet the Provincial Drinking water objective.  We have provided IH with 
written documentation of the attached letter of how we are going to achieve the objective.  The 
letter was written in Dec. of 2011.  In order to meet the Provincial Objective, we must construct 
an Ultraviolet disinfection facility, which is planned at the base of the future dam site on the 
east slope.  A future water filtration plant site is also being planned at this same location.  The 
proposed site is one of four major domestic water supply sources set out for Kelowna for the long 
term, in conformance with the 2012 Kelowna Integrated Water Supply Plan.   

6.6 FortisBC - Gas 

No concerns. 

6.7 FortisBC - Electric 

No concerns. 

6.8 Telus Communications 

No concerns. 

6.9 Shaw Cable 

Owner/developer to install underground conduit system. 

32



Z12-0055 – Page 8 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: July 17, 2012   
 
Final agreement on OCP amendment: January 18, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:  Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Acting GM of Community Sustainability 

 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map (1 page) 
Applicant’s Site Plan (1 page) 
Applicant’s Site Photos (3 pages) 
Schedule “A” – OCP Amendment Map (1 page) 
Schedule “B” – Rezoning Map (1 page) 

 

33



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 8th, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (AW) 

Application: Z12-0068 / TA13-0002 Owner: Evergreen Lands Limited, Inc. No. 382754 

Address: 1121, 1131, 1141 & 1151 Brookside Ave. Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects Inc. 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: Multiple Unit Residential – Low Density 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

That Rezoning Application No. Z12-0068 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000, by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 9 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 
1121 Brookside Avenue, Lot 10 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1131 
Brookside Avenue, Lot 11 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1141 Brookside 
Avenue, Lot 12 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1151 Brookside Avenue, 
Kelowna, BC, from the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM3 – Low Density Multiple 
Housing zone be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA13-0002 to amend the RM3 zone in City of 
Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 to increase the base density to an FAR of 0.75, reduce the under 
building / covered parking bonus to 0.05 FAR and adding a 0.1 FAR bonus for projects located 
within Urban Centres as defined by Map 5.3 in the 2030 OCP as outlined in Schedule “A” of the 
report of the Land Use Management Department dated February 8th, 2013 be considered by 
Council; 
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment bylaw and the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public 
Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10800 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna and 
Evergreen Lands Limited, Inc. No. 382754, which requires the owner to provide 68 purpose built 
rental units for a period of ten years on Lot 9 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 
1121 Brookside Avenue, Lot 10 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1131 
Brookside Avenue, Lot 11 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1141 Brookside 

34



Z12-0068 / TA13-0002– Page 2 

 
 

Avenue, Lot 12 Section 19 Township 26 ODYD Plan 2704, located at 1151 Brookside Avenue, 
Kelowna, BC, be forwarded for reading consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the execution 
of the Housing Agreement; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
submission of a plan of subdivision to consolidate the properties into one title. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Development Permit and Development Variance Permit on the 
subject property. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider rezoning the subject properties from the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Zone to the 
RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing Zone to accommodate the proposed 68 unit purpose built 
rental townhouse development. To consider a Text Amendment to the RM3 zone to increase the 
base density to 0.75 and to provide an additional 0.1 density bonus for projects located within 
Urban Centres.  

3.0 Land Use Management  

Land Use Management staff are supportive of the proposal, as it is seen to meet the objectives 
and supporting policies of the Official Community Plan (OCP). The RM3 – Low Density Multiple 
Housing zone is the appropriate zone and facilitates a form of housing needed within this Urban 
Centre location. The subject property is located within the Capri / Landmark Urban Centre, 
along the Gordon Drive bus route and within walking distance to A.S. Mathison Elementary School 
and the Capri Centre Mall. The applicant will secure all 68 units as purposed built rental housing 
for a period of 10 years. Ideally, the two properties to the west fronting Gordon Drive would have 
been incorporated into the proposed development, but the applicant was unable to secure them. 
In the future, these properties will have to be redeveloped together in order to achieve the 
anticipated development potential. 

As part of the development proposal Staff have worked on a Text Amendment that would 
increase the base density for the RM3 zone to 0.75 and allow an FAR bonus of 0.1 for any project 
located within an Urban Centre as defined by the 2030 OCP. Increasing the base density should 
allow more projects to move forward and the extra bonus for projects located within Urban 
Centres encourages more development in these areas. Staff are currently working on a broader 
Text Amendment that will update all of the multiple unit residential zones to provide a set of 
regulations allowing a more urban and current form of development, especially within the 
designated Urban Centres. These amendments will be forwarded to Council within the next few 
months. In the meantime, this project has presented an opportunity to test a new base FAR with 
an Urban Centre bonus which will support this centrally located rental townhouse project. The 
proposed development will provide a unique development that will introduce a new form of 
housing into the Capri / Landmark Urban Centre.  

The proposed variances are required in order to enable the developer to proceed with this form 
of project. While the parking variance is a concern the property is located within the Capri / 

35



Z12-0068 / TA13-0002– Page 3 

 
 

Landmark Urban Centre has great transit access and is within walking distance to various 
amenities. The applicant has other projects with similar parking break downs and has provided a 
rationale, attached at the end of this report, for how parking will be managed. A Development & 
Development Variance Permit will be forwarded to Council at a later date.    

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposed development consists of a total of 68 dwelling units divided between 4 buildings; 
34 - 1 bedroom units and 34 - 2 bedroom units. Principal vehicular access for the units is via a 
driveway from Brookside Avenue. Parking for the development is located at the centre of the 
property with 46 of the stalls provided within carports. The applicant has proposed a parking 
variance which would provide each unit with 1 parking stall and a total of 10 visitor parking 
stalls. As this property is located within an Urban Centre, $7,500.00 per stall as cash-in-lieu 
would be the appropriate mechanism to overcome this shortfall.  However, as this is a purpose 
built housing project the applicant has asked that the parking be varied in accordance with the 
recently adopted Housing Strategy. Section 15 of the Housing Strategy suggests that parking 
should be reduced for multi family housing projects located within the Urban Core.    

Long term bicycle parking is provided within individual storage units, and short term bicycle 
parking is provided near the centre of the site adjacent to the visitor vehicle parking. Pedestrian 
circulation is provided between buildings and through the property and a sidewalk will be 
provided along Brookside Avenue. The Brookside Avenue frontage provides a strong pedestrian 
orientation, with main building entrances and patios. Such design elements serve to activate 
these building frontages with heightened levels of pedestrian activity. The buildings are 
representative of a more contemporary aesthetic, having flat roofs and clean building lines.  

The proposal compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RM3 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio  0.573 (0.85 with Text Amend) 0.672 

Site Coverage - Buildings 40% 37.6% 

Site Coverage – Buildings & Drive 50% 59.5% ¹ 

Height 9.5m / 2.5 storeys 8.4m / 2.5 storeys 

Front Yard 4.5m 4.5m 

Side Yard (east) 4.5m 4.5m 

Side Yard (west) 4.5m 5.2m 

Rear Yard 7.5m 7.5m 

Building Separation 3.0m 2.43m ² 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 94 stalls  78 stalls ³ 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 34 stalls 
Class II: 7 stalls 

Class I: 48 stalls 
Class II: 8 stalls 

Private Open Space 1360m2 2570m2 

¹ To vary site coverage from 50% permitted to 59.5% proposed. 

² To vary building separation from 3.0m to 2.43m 

³ To vary parking from 94 stalls required to 78 stalls proposed. 

 

36



Z12-0068 / TA13-0002– Page 4 

 
 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject properties are located within the Capri / Landmark Urban Centre in an area 
designated for a townhouse form of development.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Family Residential 

East RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing Townhouse Development 

South P2 – Educational & Minor Institutional Church 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Family Residential 

 

Subject Property Map: 1121, 1131, 1141 & 1151 Brookside Ave. 
 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Housing Strategy 

Section 15. Less Parking Required: Reduce minimum parking requirements in the Zoning By-law 
for new multi unit housing in the Urban Core. 
 
Rationale: 
This is a way to encourage or reward housing that conforms to OCP policy and make housing more 
financially viable. It also aligns with supporting transit and reducing vehicle use. Parking spaces 
are expensive to provide, ranging from about $10,000 / surface parking space to $30,000 + / 
space for under-building parking. 

37



Z12-0068 / TA13-0002– Page 5 

 
 

5.2 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Ground-Oriented Housing.2 Encourage all multi-unit residential buildings in neighbourhoods with 
schools and parks to contain ground-oriented units with 2 or more bedrooms to provide a family 
housing choice within multi-unit rental or ownership markets. High density residential projects in 
the Downtown area are encouraged to include a ground-oriented housing component, especially 
where such can be provided on non-arterial and non-collector streets.’ 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Demolition Permits required for any structures prior to them being taken down. 
2) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 

Building Permit(s) for new construction 
3) This property falls within the Mill Creek flood plain bylaw area and compliance is 

required. Minimum building elevations are required to be established prior to the 
release of the Development Permit. This building may be designed to low, which may 
affect the form and character of the building.  

4) Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit applications, but 
the following items may affect the form and character of the building.  
a. The area above the covered parking with welded wire mesh guards would be 

defined as climbable. These guards for the A2 assembly would be required to meet 
the minimum requirements for guards as defined in BCBC 

b. There does not seem to be good fire fighting access for the two internal buildings 
mainly (upper type B units). How would these units be addressed and has the fire 
department commented on required access routes as per BCBC?  

5) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached Memo. 

6.3 Bylaw Services – No concerns 

6.4 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of 
Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw requires a minimum of 150ltr/sec 
flow. Confirm 6m emergency access. A fire department turn-a-round is required in an 
access exceeding 100m. On site fire hydrants will be required. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.23.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

38



Z12-0068 / TA13-0002– Page 6 

 
 

6.5 Interior Health Authority 

This development proposal appears to be adjacent to the Capri/Landmark Urban Centre 
which aims to create a pedestrian friendly environment where mixed-use, commercial, 
and parks and opens spaces are encouraged. These concepts align with Interior Health's 
goal to create environments where the healthy choice is the easy choice to enhance 
physical, mental and social health. 

6.6 School District No. 23 – N/A 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: November 27th, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:   Doug Gilchrist, A. General Manager, Community Sustainability 

 

Attachments: 

Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Affordable Housing Agreement 
 

39



1 Updated: 08/03/2013 

 

SCHEDULE ‘A’  
TA13-0002 

Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

No. Section Existing Text Proposed Text 

1 13.9.6 – Development 
Regulations 

The maximum floor area ratio is 0.5, except it 
is 0.55 with a housing agreement pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 6.9. Where parking 
spaces are provided totally beneath habitable 
space of a principal building or beneath useable 
common amenity areas providing that in all 
cases, the parking spaces are screened from 
view, an amount may be added to the floor 
area ratio equal to 0.2 multiplied by the ratio 
of such parking spaces to the total required 
parking spaces, but in no case shall this amount 
exceed 0.2. 

The maximum floor area ratio is 0.75 
 
Where at least 75% parking spaces are provided 
totally beneath habitable space of a principal 
building, beneath useable common amenity 
areas, or in a garage/carport providing that in all 
cases, the parking spaces are screened from 
public view, the floor area ratio may be increase to 
0.05. 
 
The floor area ratio may be increased by a further 
0.1 for a development constructed in an Urban 
Centre (as defined by Kelowna’s Official 
Community Plan). 
 

 

40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 8th, 2013 

RIM No. 3480-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (AW) 

Application: OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 Owner: 

5351923 Holdings Ltd.,  
Inc. No. BC0790835 

Manteo Beach Club Ltd.,  

Inc. No. BC0911700 

Address: 3762-3766 & 3756 Lakeshore Road Applicant: Manteo North GP Ltd. 

Subject: OCP Text Amendment, Development Variance & Development Permit Applications  

Existing OCP Designation: Mixed Use (Tourism) 

Existing Zone: C9 – Tourist Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendations 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP12-0014 for a Text Amendment 
to OCP Objective 5.5, Policy .1, Building Height to exclude the development proposed at 
Lot A, District Lot 134 and Section 6, Township 26, ODYD, Plan KAP56428 Except Strata 
Plan KAS1776 (PH1), located at 3762-3766 Lakeshore Road from the ‘Elsewhere Building 
Height’ policy in order to permit one 10 storey and one 12 storey apartment hotel where 
the height maximum is 6 storeys; 
 
AND THAT Council considers the Advisory Planning Commission public process to be 
appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as 
outlined in the Report of the Land Use Management Department dated February 8, 2013; 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment be forwarded to a Public 
Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Final Adoption of the Official Community Plan Amending Bylaw be 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Permit No. DP12-0177 for Lot 
2, District Lot 134, ODYD, Plan 2912 Except Plan H9673, located at 3756 Lakeshore Road 
and Lot A, District Lot 134 and Section 6, Township 26, ODYD, Plan KAP56428 Except 

57



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 2 

 
 

Strata Plan KAS1776 (PH1), located at  3762-3766  Lakeshore Road, Kelowna, B.C. subject 
to the following: 
 
1) The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in 
general accordance with Schedule "A"; 
 
2) The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in 
general accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3) Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule 
"C"; 
 
4) The applicant be required to post with the City a Landscape Performance Security 
deposit in the form of a "Letter of Credit" in the amount of 125% of the estimated value 
of the landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; 
 
6)        The registration of a titled lot to dedicated the equivalent of 12m along Okanagan 
Lake in front of the existing ‘Lakeshore Inn’ for a Riparian Management Area and Public 
Trail to the City as shown on Schedule ‘C’;  
 
7)        The completion of a Purchase / Sale Agreement with the City involving an excess 
portion of Lakeshore Road and the Wilson Creek corridor;   
 
8) The execution of the Servicing Agreement and associated bonding for the 
Development Engineering requirements; 
 
9) Issuance of a Natural Environment Development Permit including RMA restoration, 
trail construction and maintenance for 5 years of the Okanagan Lake and Wilson Creek 
trail be authorized for issuance to the satisfaction of the Environment and Land Use 
Branch; 
 
10)      Registration of a Covenant against Lot A, District Lot 134 and Section 6, Township 
26, ODYD, Plan KAP56428 Except Strata Plan KAS1776 (PH1), located at 3762-3766 
Lakeshore Road ensuring that 51% of the total built floor area of Phase 2 & 3 are 
constructed as dedicated ‘Hotel’ space as defined in Zoning Bylaw No. 8000; 
 
11)      Phase 1 of the project starting construction within two years and Phase 2 starts 
within 10 years of Council approval of the form and character Development Permit. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition 
No. 4 within 180 days of Council approval of the Development Permit in order for the 
permit to be issued. 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP12-
0178 for Lot 2, District Lot 134, ODYD, Plan 2912 Except Plan H9673, located at 3756 
Lakeshore Road and Lot A, District Lot 134 and Section 6, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 

58



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 3 

 
 

KAP56428 Except Strata Plan KAS1776 (PH1), located at  3762-3766  Lakeshore Road, 
Kelowna, B.C.;  
 
AND THAT variances for Phase 1 of the development proposal to the following sections of 
Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 14.9.5 (c) Development Regulations – Front Yard Setback 
To vary the required front yard setback from 6.0m required to 2.18m proposed, as per 
Schedule ‘A’. 
 
Section 14.9.5 (d) Development Regulations – Side Yard Setback 
To vary one of the required side yard setbacks (South) from 3.0m required to 0.0m 
proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT variances for Phase 2 and 3 of the development proposal to the 
following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 14.9.5 (b) Development Regulations - Height 
To vary the maximum height from 22m / 6 stories permitted to 39m / 12 storeys (Phase 
2) and 36m / 10 storeys (Phase 3) proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 
 
Section 14.9.5 (c) Development Regulations – Front Yard Setback 
To vary the required front yard setback from 6.0m required to 0.7m proposed, as per 
Schedule ‘A’. 
 
Table 8.1 Parking Schedule 
To vary the maximum parking stalls from 294 permitted (125%) to 313 proposed (133%).  
 
Table 8.2 Loading Schedule 
To vary the required loading spaces from 4 required to 2 proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider an OCP amendment to OCP Objective 5.5, Policy .1, Building Height to exclude the 
development proposed at 3762-3766 Lakeshore Road from the OCP’s Building Height Policy in 
order to permit a permit one 10 storey and one 12 storey apartment hotel where the height 
maximum is 6 storeys. 
 
To consider a Development Permit for three phases of development on the “Lakeshore Inn” site 
and the Manteo resort site. Phase 1 is proposed as an 18 unit townhouse development, Phase 2 is 
a 12 storey hotel with 69 units and phase 3 consists of a 10 storey apartment hotel with 77 units. 
Phase 1 includes two setback variances, both of which are limited to isolated areas where the 
development footprint encroaches into the required setback. Phases 2 & 3 require four variances 
in order to accommodate the proposal, the most significant being the height variance from 22m / 
6 storeys permitted to 39m / 12 storeys and 36m / 10 storeys proposed.     

 

59



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 4 

 
 

3.0 Land Use Management  

The proposed Manteo resort development will expand the hotel, resort and convention centre 
uses in the area now designated Mixed Use Tourism in the 2030 Official Community Plan. The 
proposed project will complement the existing Manteo resort and will continue to develop 
important tourism infrastructure in this part of the City. The comprehensive resort planning with 
the existing Manteo resort and the proposed new facilities will enhance the overall services, 
infrastructure and tourism opportunities for this area and result in a niche tourism commercial 
node that promotes year round enjoyment for visitors and residents alike. 
 
In consultation with City Staff, the applicant had submitted a number of development concepts 
during the past couple of years. The final concept includes three phases of development that will 
take place over the next 10-15 years. Phase 1 will take place on the ‘Lakeshore Inn’ property and 
will include 18 townhouse units that will be associated with the resort. Phase 2 and 3 are long 
term phases that won’t take place for 10 years when the existing Manteo leases have run their 
course. The full redevelopment of the Manteo resort will include a 12 storey 69 unit hotel 
development and a 10 storey 77 unit apartment hotel project, an additional 775m² of tourist 
commercial uses and 363m² of convention space will be added onsite.   
 
Form & Character 
The hotel and apartment hotel tower elements offer a contemporary and colourful buildings 
utilizing a modern design which provides an Okanagan ‘feel’ to the architecture fitting for this 
foreshore location. The architectural expression is distinct and the quality of the building 
materials is commendable.  Most notably, the site planning has been thoughtfully deliberated to 
establish the apartment hotel and hotel in a location as to provide potential view corridors along 
Wilson Creek, between the Phase 1 townhomes and between the existing hotel and Phase 2 
rather than massing the development to span the length of the Lakeshore Road frontage. This 
results in a built form that protects the riparian area, is compatible with the neigbourhood and 
site context, and the public enjoyment of the lakefront is enhanced as a result of the 
development.   
 
Height 
Although a height variance is required, the massing of the current proposal provides a more 
appropriate form of development. While there are concerns with the height variance (specifically 
with regards to access to lake views) the location of the row housing component on the northern 
parcel will still allow views through the site from adjacent properties. The bulk of the height is 
located on a part of the site that will not have a substantial shading impact on adjacent 
properties. Although tower separation is not a regulation in the C9 zone the distance between 
the two towers is 38m which breaks down the massing and will allow sunlight to penetrate 
through the two towers. With the FAR and height available through the C9 zone the applicant 
could build a large and bulky 6 storey hotel along the entire length of Lakeshore. Although a 
significant height variance is required, the resulting form helps break down the massing and 
create a more appropriate form of development. Many of the negative impacts associated with 
the increased height will be borne by the developer and the towers were intentionally located in 
the middle of the site to reduce shadowing on adjacent properties and public spaces. As part of 
the request for additional height the applicant has agreed to secure 51% of the total floor area on 
the Manteo resort site as hotel related uses as allowed in the ‘Hotel’ definition in Zoning Bylaw 
No. 8000 to ensure that this redevelopment provides a significant amount of tourist commercial 
uses.   
 
 

60



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 5 

 
 

Community Amenity - Foreshore Dedication 
The applicant will be dedicating and restoring a 10m Riparian Management Area (RMA) strip along 
Okanagan Lake which will be appropriately protected and landscaped with an additional 2m trail 
for public access along the Okanagan Lake foreshore and Wilson Creek. This crucial link will help 
the City achieve its plan to secure public access along the waterfront from Rotary Park to the 
mouth of Mission Creek. The Riparian Management Area restoration (to be completed by the 
applicant) will help to enhance the mouth of Wilson Creek and this piece of Okanagan Lake 
foreshore. These improvements will be of significant environmental benefit as these features had 
previously been disturbed and it will be positive both ecologically and aesthetically following the 
restoration. The applicant is offering the 12m dedication and the trail construction as a 
community amenity and to help offset some of the impact associated with the proposed height 
variance.  
 
Variances 
The two variances associated with Phase 1 are setback variances and are in isolated areas along 
the length of the property line and the impacts are anticipated to not be significant. In contrast, 
the Phase 2 & 3 height variances help to create a more acceptable form of development for this 
long term  resort redevelopment. The front yard setback will provide an urban street edge along 
the City’s multi-modal corridor and allows the project to shift further from lake. Staff are rarely 
supportive of variances that surpass the maximum; however in this limited instance providing 
parking above and beyond the requirement is appropriate due to the nature of the operation and 
the existing parking problems. The redevelopment will make Manteo more of a year round node 
of activity, and will be especially busy during summer months. The parking is also well integrated 
into the project and does not have a negative impact on the overall form and character of the 
proposal. However, given that the project does take place adjacent to the recently constructed 
multi-modal corridor and to improve the modal split for the project Staff have strongly 
encouraged the applicant to exceed Bylaw requirements for bike parking. By focusing on making 
the project bike friendly, the parking problems in the area could be alleviated significantly 
especially with regards to accommodating resort staff.    
 
Overall, the applicant has been very receptive to design comments and Staff feel that the 
community amenity being secured as part of the comprehensive development is significant 
enough to justify supporting the requested variances. The applicant could have maximized access 
to Okanagan Lake for Phase 1 in the absence of a rezoning application, which would have 
frustrated the City’s long term plan of securing public access along Okanagan Lake from Rotary 
Beach to the mouth of Mission Creek. Additionally, through a restrictive covenant the applicant 
has agreed to secure a 51% minimum of the total resort development as hotel uses. The project 
as proposed shows a commitment to enhancing this mixed use tourist area with a significant 
resort development. 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The Phase 1 property is currently home to the ‘Lakeshore Inn’ which is a two storey, 44 unit 
motel building.  In 1999, there was a major façade upgrade of the existing building development, 
but overall the building has deteriorated. The existing Manteo site where Phase 2 & 3 will take 
place currently has the existing hotel, which will be retained as part of this phased 
redevelopment. The existing townhouse units are under lease up to 2019 at which point the full 

61



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 6 

 
 

redevelopment of the main Manteo site may begin.   Given the time lapse and project changes 
since the time of APC, the applicant will be hosting a Public Open House on March 4, 2013 and 
provide the public the opportunity to comment on the proposed resort redevelopment.   

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to redevelop the subject properties with a new tourist commercial 
resort project that will be phased over the next 10-15 years.  The first phase will take place on 
the ‘Lakeshore Inn’ property and includes 18 townhouse units that will be associated with the 
resort. Phase 2 and 3 are long term phases that won’t take place for another 10 years when the 
existing Manteo leases have run their course. They will include a 12 storey, 69 unit hotel 
development and a 10 storey, 77 unit apartment hotel project that accommodates an additional 
775m² of tourist commercial uses and 363m² of convention space. 
 
The applicant has indicated that Phase 1 will ideally start construction within the next year or 
two and the town home form will provide a different product that will support the Manteo resort 
and provide other tourist accommodation options. The intent is that Phase 1, while offering a 
different experience, will still function as part of the Manteo resort complex. Although there will 
be a number of synergies between Phase 1 and the main Manteo property, a ‘Santa Fe’ design 
aesthetic has been used in order to make it distinct from the existing Manteo development. The 
materials include white stucco with wood trim, iron rails, clay tile roofs, wood garage doors and 
painted entrance doors. Landscaping will be provided throughout the site with a pool and 
common area located adjacent to the lake. Although provided to the City as a community 
amenity to help offset the impact from the height associated with Phase 2 and 3, the 12m 
Okanagan Lake strip will be dedicated to the City as part of Phase 1. Based on the applicants 
anticipated timing, the Riparian Management plantings and trail construction along Okanagan 
Lake and Wilson Creek could start as early as 2014. A mix of vegetation, fencing and berming will 
be used to delineate public and private spaces along Wilson Creek and the Okanagan Lake 
foreshore.  
 
The Phase 2 & 3 site plan indicates that the under-building parking is located along the south and 
east side of the property line, with small commercial retail units buffering the parking structure 
from Lakeshore Road. The proposed towers are located towards the centre of the property above 
the parking structure. The asymmetrical towers are oriented to the west in a manner that will 
still allow sunlight to penetrate through the site. Placing the majority of the height in this 
location will maintain access to the sun and will not shade Rotary Beach. The materials are 
comprised primarily of orange and yellow painted concrete in keeping with the colourful 
‘Okanagan inspired’ aesthetic Manteo currently provides. These materials are broken up with a 
number of windows and balconies which are enclosed by a glazed system.  There are portions of 
the exterior walls which are of a solid panel construction with cut-out windows to provide strong 
vertical elements between the window-wall sections. The 4 storey parking podium base of the 
building is constructed of exposed architectural concrete, with cast-in details to provide visual 
interest to the structure along the Lakeshore Road frontage. A mix of glazing and painted 
concrete in addition to 3 small ground oriented retail units helps create a more active and 
attractive streetscape along this prominent façade. The north end of the podium structure is 
wrapped with glazing and provides outdoor seating opportunities adjacent to the Lakeshore Road 
multi-modal corridor. Vehicle and pedestrian entrance plaza are located at the north and south 
ends of the large podium, providing access to the entrance lobby of the hotel and apartment 
hotel as well as vehicle access to the parking structure.  Significant improvements are also 
planned on the waterfront side of the project, with expanded pool and open space areas. The 
landscape plan submitted with the application package indicates a substantial amount of 

62



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 7 

 
 

plantings around the perimeter of the development site.  There is also landscaping planted along 
Lakeshore Road for Phase 1 and between the CRU’s for Phase 2 and 3.  The variances associated 
with the proposed development are as follows: 
 
Phase 1: 

 Vary front yard setback from 6.0m required to 2.18m proposed. 

 Vary southern side yard setback from 3.0m required to 0.0m proposed. 
 
Phase 2 & 3: 

 Vary the height from 22.0m / 6 storeys permitted to 39m / 12 storeys and 36m / 10 
storeys proposed. 

 Vary the front yard setback from 6.0m required to 0.7m proposed. 

 Vary the parking from a maximum of 294 stalls (125%) permitted to 313 stalls (133%) 
proposed. 

 Vary the required loading from 4 spaces required to 2 spaces proposed. 

4.3 Site Context 

 

Subject Property Map: 3762-3766 & 3756 Lakeshore Road 

 
 

63



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 8 

 
 

The subject properties make up a significant portion of the designated mixed use tourism area 
with a large frontage along Okanagan Lake and Wilson Creek. The properties are generally flat, 
sloping down towards the lake. Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North P3 – Parks and Open Space Rotary Beach Park 

East 

C9 – Tourist Commercial 
RM7 – Mobile Home Park 
RR3 – Rural Residential 3 

Hiawatha 
Residential 
Play Del Sol 

South C9 – Tourist Commercial Eldorado Hotel  
West W2 – Intensive Water Use Okanagan Lake 

 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA 
C9 Requirements 

Phase 1 
Proposed Phase 1  

(Row Housing) 

C9 
Requirements 
Phase 2 & 3  

Phase 2 & 3 
Hotel 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio  0.5  0.41 1.5 (Apart. hotel) 0.81 

Height   22.0m / 6 storeys 10.3m / 3 Storeys 22.0m / 6 storeys 
39m / 12 Storey¹ 
36m / 10 Storeys¹ 

Front Yard 6.0m 2.18m ¹ 6.0m 
0.7m to Retail² 

17m min. to Tower 

Side Yard (south) 3.0m 3.0m 3.0m 
3.0m 

15.45 to Tower 

Side Yard (north) 3.0m 0.0m² 3.0m 3.0m 

Rear Yard 15.0m  15.0m 15.0m  15.0m min. 

Other Regulations 

Min Parking Requirements 18 stalls 18 stalls 313 stalls 
235 stalls x 125% 

294 stalls permitted³ 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 1 
Class II: 1 

Provided in Garages 
Class I: 11 stalls 
Class II: 15 stalls 

Class I: 11 stalls 
Class II: 15 stalls 

Loading Space N/A N/A 4 2* 

Okanagan Lake Sightlines 120° N/A 120° Meets Requirement 

Variances  

Phase 1: 

¹ Vary front yard setback from 6.0m required to 2.18m proposed. 

² Vary southern side yard setback from 3.0m required to 0.0m proposed. 

 

Phase 2 & 3: 
¹ Vary the height from 22.0m / 6 storeys permitted to 39m / 12 Storey and 36m / 10 Storeys proposed. 

² Vary the front yard setback from 6.0m required to 0.7m proposed. 

³ Vary the parking from a maximum of 294 stalls permitted to 313 stalls proposed. 

* Vary the required loading from 4 spaces required to 2 spaces proposed. 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.1.1 Development Process (Chapter 5) - Considerations in Reviewing Development Applications 
 

Ensure appropriate and context sensitive built form (Objective 5.5) 
 

64



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 9 

 
 

Building Height (Policy .1). Locate taller buildings in the geographic centre of Urban 
Centres and generally decrease height moving away from the centre, to a maximum of 4 
storeys at the periphery of the Urban Centres, where adjoining land is designated for 
single/two unit housing. 
 

 Elsewhere: Four storeys for residential and six storeys for apartment hotels and 
hotels. Additional height restrictions may be imposed as a result of airport-related 
zoning regulations. 
 

View Corridors (Policy .2). Where multiple unit or commercial development along the 
shore zone is permitted, require that a view corridor to the lake from inland be 
maintained and ensure that the public use and enjoyment of the lakefront is enhanced as 
a result of the development. 

 
Provide parks for a diversity of people and a variety of uses (Objective 5.14) 
 
Site Density Calculations (Policy .1). Allow the owner(s) and developers who contribute 
land for park dedications, to use the original site area in computing density and floor area 
ratios and minimum area for development or subdivision purposes.  

 
Protect Sensitive Areas (Policy .4). Sensitive environmental areas and riparian 
management areas (RMA) will be protected by siting trails beyond their boundaries, unless 
there are absolutely no alternatives. 

 
Encourage uses and commercial ventures that promote local tourism (Objective 5.26). 

 
Tourist Commercial (Policy .1). Consider commercial development for tourism related 
uses in the Capozzi / Truswell, Lakeshore, Cook Road area. 

 
Visitor Accommodation (Policy .2). Consider allowing visitor accommodation along the 
shore zone provided that such a use protects the riparian area, would be compatible with 
the neighbourhood and site context, and public enjoyment of the lakefront is enhanced as 
a result of the development. 
 
Waterfront Commercial (Policy .3). Waterfront commercial and multiple unit housing 
must facilitate and enhance public enjoyment of or access to the lakefront. 

 
5.1.2 Urban Design Guidelines (Chapter 14) - Comprehensive Development Permit Area (Multiple 

Unit Residential, Commercial, and Industrial Design guidelines) 
 

Objectives 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through urban design that is distinctive for 
Kelowna; 

 Promote a high urban design standard and quality of construction for future 
development that is coordinated with existing structures; 

 Integrate new development with existing site conditions and preserve the character 
amenities of the surrounding area; 

 Promote interesting, pedestrian friendly streetscape design and pedestrian linkages; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of commercial buildings that promotes a safe, 
enjoyable living, pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

65



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 10 

 
 

 Incorporate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes that 
define an area’s character; 

 Promote alternative transportation with enhanced streetscapes and multimodal 
linkages; 

 Highlight the significance of community institutional and heritage buildings; and 

 Protect and restore the urban ecology (i.e. architectural and site consideration with 
respect to the ecological impact on urban design). 

 Moderate urban water demand in the City so that adequate water supply is reserved 
for agriculture and for natural ecosystem processes. 

 Reduce outdoor water use in new or renovated landscape areas in the City by a target 
of 30%, when compared to 2007. 

 
Guidelines 
Authenticity and regional expression 

 Incorporate landscaping and building form and character that is distinct to Kelowna 
and the Central Okanagan and conveys a sense of authenticity; 

 Incorporate forms and images that relate to the region’s natural and cultural 
landscapes (e.g. incorporate winery or orchard inspired trellises or rooflines that 
reflect those found on barns and older homes located on/around agricultural lands); 

 Respond architecturally to summer sun with buildings that have overhangs and 
recesses of sufficient depth to provide comfort and shade; 

 Incorporate materials that relate to the character of the region and the context of the 
surrounding neighbourhood; 

 Use colours found in the region’s natural and cultural landscape; 

 Provide generous outdoor spaces, including rooftops, balconies, patios and courtyards, 
to allow residents to benefit from the favourable Okanagan weather; 

 Incorporate techniques and treatments that emphasize the transition between inside 
and outside (e.g. operable windows, overhead rolling doors, canopies, trellises, 
recessed entrances, and extended building planes). 

 
Relationship to the street 

 Locate buildings to provide an effective street edge while respecting the established, 
desired streetscape rhythm; 

 Develop visual and physical connections between the public street and private 
buildings (e.g. patios and spill-out activity, views to and from active interior spaces, 
awnings and canopies); 

 Avoid split level, raised or sunken parkade entrances; 

 Design buildings with multiple street frontages to give equal emphasis to each 
frontage with respect to building massing, materials, details, and landscaping. 

 
Massing and height 

 Mitigate the actual and perceived bulk of buildings by utilizing appropriate massing, 
including: 

 Architectural elements (e.g. balconies, bay windows, cantilevered floors, cupolas, 
dormers); 

 Visually-interesting rooflines (e.g. variations in cornice lines and roof slopes); 

 Step back upper floors to reduce visual impact; 

 Detailing that creates a rhythm and visual interest along the line of the building; 

66



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 11 

 
 

 Wall projections and indentations, windows and siding treatments as well as varied 
material textures should be utilized to create visual interest and to articulate building 
facades; 

 Building frontages that vary architectural treatment in regular intervals in order to 
maintain diverse and aesthetically appealing streets. 

 Ensure developments are sensitive to and compatible with the massing of the 
established and/or future streetscape; 

 Design developments with multiple, separate buildings such that individual buildings 
are of different but compatible shapes, masses, and exterior finishes; 

 Design with consideration for the effect of building height on shading and views. 
 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Demolition Permits required for any structures prior to them being taken down. 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s) for new construction 

 The tower building(s) are required to be of non-combustible construction.  

 A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 meters is required for all habitable spaces 
including the parking garage(s).  

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and potential impact 
on neighbouring properties. A Geotechnical pier review will be required at time of 
building permit application. 

 A Structural pier review will be required at time of building permit application. 

 Requirements of the City of Kelowna fire prevention regulations bylaw No. 6110 for 
buildings greater than 6 stories are to be shown on the building permit drawings. 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit 

 Awnings over city property require an indemnification agreement(s). 

 Code analysis is required for the structures at time of building permit applications, but 
the following items may affect the form and character of the building: 

 Spatial calculation required to be verified between buildings 2 & 3.  

 A 2nd exit may be required from the ground floor spa area and lower parking stall area. 

 A vestibule may be required for the residential units accessed from the garage levels.  

 An alternative solution maybe required for the tower exit stairs that combine into one 
exit door prior to the release of the Development Permit 

 Exiting for the second level executive office space is to be defined at time of building 
permit application 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 

No Comment. 

6.4 Fortis BC  - Gas 

67



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 12 

 
 

Please be advised FortisBC has no objections or comments in regards to the above 
mentioned referral. 

6.5 Fortis BC  - Electric 

This is a major phased development and all primary distribution facilities onsite will 
require land rights protection.  Since the location of these facilities will be unknown until 
the design phase, pursuit of land rights will be deferred until that time. It should be noted 
that, due to the overall size of the development, it is likely that off-site FBC facilities 
along Lakeshore Rd will require significant upgrades.  All costs related to off-site upgrades 
to FBC facilities will be charged to the applicant. Otherwise, FBC has no land rights 
concerns at this time. It should be noted that additional land rights issues may arise from 
the design process but can be dealt with at that time, prior to construction. 

6.6 Infrastructure Planning 

 Secure waterfront dedication for public parkland and environmental protection;  LUM to 
determine appropriate width. 

 Construct public waterfront promenade (as part of the Rotary Beach Park to Mission Creek 
section);  Class 1:  Major Urban Promenade - hard-surfaced for universal accessibility.  
There has been some concern with balancing environmental objectives, but this trail will 
likely be very popular and to accommodate the anticipate traffic volumes I would 
recommend a 2.0m width. 

 Incorporate urban design principals in the proposed development to ensure a positive 
relationship between private and public realm: 

o Lakeshore Road Multi-use Corridor; 
o Southern property line of Rotary Beach Park; 
o Wilson Creek trail area; 

6.7 Public Health Inspector 

Healthy Built Environments  

We strongly support development requirements aimed at preserving and restoring riparian 
areas along Wilson creek and the foreshore of Okanagan Lake. The maintenance of strong 
riparian ecosystems, including the protection and restoration of creek and foreshore 
riparian zones are important for the preservation of water quality in Okanagan Lake, in 
particular, recreational water quality of the adjacent Rotary Beach Park. We also support 
initiatives aimed at enhancing public walkability through the dedication of a public path 
along the lake edge, thereby improving connectivity with the waterfront and adjacent 
walking/cycling paths. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Comprehensive Application Received: September 26th, 2012 
Advisory Planning Commission:    July 19th, 2011 
Resolution of Outstanding Issues:   February 1st, 2013 
Applicant hosted Public Open House:   Scheduled for March 4th, 2013 

The applicant has a public open house scheduled for March 4th, 2013 where public information 
panels and project visuals will be displayed for the purposes of consulting the public and 

68



OCP12-0014/ DP12-0177/ DVP12-0178 – Page 13 

 
 

receiving community input. At the time of Public Hearing the applicant will be in a position to 
provide a summary of the open house results.  

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 
 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, A. General Manager, Community Sustainability 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Shadow Study 
Development Engineering Requirements 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117


	Agenda
	4.1 TA12-0012 (CMS - format) -.docx
	Back to Agenda

	4.1 TA12-0012 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	4.2 Z12-0055 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	4.2 z12-0055 jm council cms.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	4.3 Z12-0068 - Council.docx
	Back to Agenda

	4.3 SCHEDULE A.docx
	Back to Agenda

	4.3 Z12-0068 council report attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	4.4 OCP12-0014_DP12-0177_DVP12-0178 - Council.docx
	Back to Agenda

	4.4 OCP12-0014 council report attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda


